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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	PENYLOPE M. JONES, 

                                                    Employee, 

                                                            Claimant,

                                                   v. 

ASHLEY HOME STORE,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

AIG CLAIM SERVICES, INC.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants. 
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)
	          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200113221
        AWCB Decision No. 05-0054 

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on February 24, 2005


The Alaska Workers' Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee's claim for temporary total disability (TTD), permanent total disability (PTD), and medical benefits on January 4, 2005 at Anchorage, Alaska.  The employee appeared on her own behalf.  Attorney Robert Griffin represented the employer and insurer (employer).  The parties were to submit their positions on records identified at hearing by January 14, 2004.  The Board closed the record when we next met on January 18, 2005.  On January 24, 2005, the Board reopened the record to accept the Employer’s Response to Employee’s Supplement to Hearing Record.  The record closed when we next met on January 25, 2005. 

ISSUES

1. Is the employee entitled to TTD benefits from April 2, 2002, and continuing, under AS 23.30.185?

2. Is the employee entitled to PTD benefits under AS 23.30.180?

3. Is the employee entitled to medical benefits including transportation expenses under AS 23.30.095?

4. Is the employee entitled to an award of penalties and interest under AS 23.30.155 and 8 AAC 45.142?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
I.  General Procedural Background

The employee injured her back while moving furniture for the employer on June 28, 2001.
  The employer accepted compensability of the injury and commenced payment of TTD benefits at a weekly rate of $314.79.  The employee received TTD benefits from July 2, 2001 until she returned to work on November 20, 2001.
   The employee was taken off work on December 4, 2001, and her TTD benefits resumed.
  

On August 23, 2002, the employer controverted medical treatment for benefits associated with carpal tunnel syndrome relying upon physiatrist, Shawn Hadley, M.D.’s, opinion that the employee’s wrist complaints were not work related, nor were they the result of physical therapy.
  Dr. Hadley opined that the employee was medically stable as of January 15, 2002.  Because Dr. Hadley declared the employee medically stable, the employer controverted TTD benefits after January 15, 2002.
   For reasons not apparent in the record, the employer continued to pay TTD benefits.  The employee’s treating physician, Shawn Johnston, M.D. declared the employee medically stable as of April 3, 2002 and assigned a 13% whole person PPI rating.  On October 7, 2002, the employer controverted PPI benefits in excess of the 13% rating and ceased TTD benefits.
   The employee underwent an EME
 in February 2003.  Based on the EME report dated February 27, 2003, opining that the employee suffered a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing injury, the employer controverted all benefits.

A hearing on the merits took place on January 4, 2005.  The employer submitted a spreadsheet marked, identified and admitted as ER-1.  ER-1 indicates which bills it has and has not paid.  The employee submitted her own spreadsheet, marked and identified as EE-1.  EE-1 set forth the benefits sought by the employee.  The Board admitted EE-1 for demonstrative purposes.
 The employer argued that Exhibit A fails to provide all necessary information.  Exhibit A does not show the date that triggers the employer’s duty to pay – the date the employer received both the bill and the medical records.
  The employer argues that under 8 AAC 45.082(d), there is no obligation to pay until it receives both the billing and the medical record.    Therefore, the employee has not established the date triggering the employer’s obligation to pay. 

Exhibit B is submitted in support of the employee’s claim for a penalty on mileage.  The employer argues that no penalty is due because the employer timely controverted and it timely paid when the employee provided the appropriate documentation.  The employer’s responses to employee’s Exhibits C, D, and E are similar to its responses to Exhibits A and B.  

The Board has reviewed the employee’s exhibits and the employer’s response thereto.  The Board will accept these exhibits into the record to the extent permitted under 8 AAC 45.120.  

II.  Medical Records Summary

The employee’s medical history includes chronic high blood pressure, diabetes, and a pre-existing history of low back pain down her left leg and toe.
 In the late 80s and early 90s, the employee was involved in a motor vehicle accident in which she injured her back.   In 1995, an MRI revealed a central disc herniation at L3-L4 and L4-L5 and bulging of the annulus at L5-S1; however, there was no true disc herniation at that level.
  The employee successfully treated this condition with a lumbar laminectomy in September 1995.

Medical records in the Board’s file are scant until three and a half months before the employee’s work-related injury.  On March 12, 2001, the employee sought chiropractic treatment from Gene Kremer, D.C.  Dr. Kremer’s intake form indicates that the last time the employee “really felt good” was two years ago. Dr. Kremer ordered an MRI, which revealed a large central disk protrusion at L4-L5, small disk protrusion at L5-S1, and post-surgical changes related to the left L4-5 laminectomy.
     

The Board’s files contain no further medical records until after the employee’s June 28, 2001 work injury, when she was treated at the Providence Medical Center Emergency Room on July 2, 2001.  Her chief complaint was right leg and buttock pain.
  The employee was referred to an orthopedic surgeon.  She selected Edward M. Voke, M.D.  Dr. Voke diagnosed a right-sided herniated nucleus pulposus at L4-L5.
  He concluded that the employee would require a lumbar laminectomy and disc excision at that level.
  Dr. Voke noted that this is opposite of the employee’s previous surgery and opined that this represents a new injury.
  

Even though she was seen by a chiropractor in April and an MRI was ordered, this woman would not require surgery had it not been for this recent injury.  She has not recovered as far as her June 28, 2001 lifting episode to date.

Dr. Voke classified the employee as “totally disabled for work” and scheduled her for reevaluation on July 24, 2001.
  That day, the employee provided the employer with her Report Of Occupational Injury Or Illness.  

On July 20, 2001, Cindy M. Lee, D.O., a practice partner of Dr. Voke’s, conducted a preoperative history and physical medical exam.   On July 24, 2001, Dr. Voke’s Chart Note again concludes that the employee’s condition and need for surgery “definitely represents an on the job injury.”  The employee was scheduled for surgery at the end of July; however, it was cancelled because of high blood sugar. On August 2, 2001, Dr. Voke continued the employee’s work release.  He performed a right-sided lumbar laminectomy at L4-5 on August 9, 2001.  At her August 21, 2001 postoperative visit, Dr. Voke reported the employee was doing well, she should remain off work for three weeks, continue with sedentary activities, and return for another postoperative check up in three weeks.

On September 17, 2001, the employee was re-evaluated by Dr. Voke. The employee reported that she was doing well and had few, if any, complaints.  He indicated she should not return to work for two weeks.
  The employee returned to Dr. Voke on October 1, 2001.  He was pleased with her progress and concluded she should remain off work for three weeks.  He instructed the employee to return to the office in three weeks for reevaluation.  He noted that in three weeks the employee should be involved in part-time employment, 4 hours per day, with no lifting over 30 pounds three times a day and no twisting.
  

On November 8, 2001, Klias Dickerman, M.D., Ph.D., reviewed the employee’s medical records at the employer’s request.  Some records were not reviewed, including Dr. Voke’s surgical notes.  Dr. Dikerman opined that the employee had a preexisting condition; she continued to be symptomatic and sought chiropractic care in March 2001.  The June 28, 2001 injury “could in fact be a substantial factor in bringing the symptoms.”
  However, without having reviewed all prior medical records “one cannot state whether your incident only caused a temporary aggravation of the preexisting condition, or a permanent aggravation of a preexisting condition.”
  However, the recent need for surgery was “clearly not a new medical condition unrelated to any preexisting condition.”
  He reasoned that the employee’s preexisting condition made her predisposed to re-development of symptoms.  Additionally, the April 2001 MRI revealed a central disc protrusion.  This could cause symptoms to manifest on either the side of the body or bilaterally.
  Because there was not a repeat MRI following the June 28, 2001 injury, Dr. Dickerman could not state “unequivocally if there had been any changes in the already herniated L4-L5 disc.”
  However, he felt the radiologist’s report for the April 2001 MRI was cause for surgery and the employee would have required surgery at some time or another.
  

The employee returned to work temporarily.  She reported that she “attempted to go to work, but her job required her to climb stairs from the 1st to the 2nd floors the entire day, and no, she has to discontinue work because of pain in the right leg.” 
  As a result, Dr. Voke removed the employee from the workplace.  He next saw the employee on December 4, 2001.  The employee complained that she had injured her right shoulder as a result of supporting her low-back.  Chart notes reflect a diagnosis of tendonitis and that her main complaint for the visit was intermittent radiating pain in her right lower calf.  Dr. Voke prescribed physical therapy two to three times per week for one month.  During this time, the employee was not to return to work.

The employee commenced physical therapy.  As part of her treatment, she received lumbar traction, which provided some relief.  The employee returned to Dr. Voke’s office on December 19, 2001, complaining of a “kink” in her neck, which she attributed to her physical therapy.
 On January 7, 2002, Dr. Voke released the employee from his care and referred her to physiatrist Shawn Johnston, M.D. 

Dr. Johnston saw the employee on January 15, 2002.  He continued her physical therapy and considered a work-reconditioning program.  Additionally, Dr. Johnston believed “there are some psychological barriers to returning to work” and recommended the employee see a psychologist.
  He released the employee to full time modified work: no lifting over 20 pounds and avoid prolonged activities.

The record contains a hand written note from the employee dated January 28, 2002 which states “girl dropped my legs when she pulled out stool.  Ankle dropped and hit – shock (star burst).”  The physical therapy notes for that day make no mention of this incident.  The employee canceled her January 30, 2002 appointment because she was taking pain medication and was unable to drive.

On February 1, 2002, the employee informed the physical therapy office of the January 28, 2002 dropped leg incident.  The employee reported increased low back and radicular pain.  She attended physical therapy on February 4, 2002.  She reported her pain level had decreased and that she was be getting better.
  On February 6, 2002, the physical therapy progress note indicates that the employee still had moderately impaired function and “psychological issue still an obstacle.”
 The physical therapist noted that the employee’s symptom levels increased as she got closer to her follow-up visit with Dr. Johnston.
  Dr. Johnston continued physical therapy and again suggested the employee follow up with a psychologist.    

The employee began to express concerns regarding Dr. Johnston.
  These concerns are outlined in the employee’s hand-written letter dated February 26, 2002 to Wilton Adjustment Service, Inc.  Specifically, the employee was concerned with Dr. Johnston’s having released her to work full time without first informing her of his decision that she could return to work.
  She expressed concerned that the employer would not provide written confirmation regarding the physical requirements of the job.
  From this point forward, the employee kept notes regarding her impressions of interactions with physicians and identifying her physical complaints.  The employee complained that Dr. Johnston was dismissive of her complaints and was defensive about the dropped leg incident at physical therapy.
 

The employee was eventually evaluated by psychologist, Stephanie Wanock, L.C.S.W., on February 20, 2002.   Ms. Wanock diagnosed the employee as suffering from adjustment disorder and depression.
  She provided the employee with referrals to “explore low-cost therapy options, basic resources and retraining/reentry to work supports.”
 

Dr. Johnston ordered an MRI on March 27, 2002.  Radiologist Robert Bridges, M.D., compared this MRI to the employee’s April 6, 2001 MRI and opined that “The presentation of the disc disease and the postsurgical changes is identical.. . . Stable presentation at all levels of the lumbar spine when compared to the previous examination of 2001.”

On April 3, 2002, Dr. Johnston saw the employee.  He discussed her recent MRI and informed her that she had a stable presentation at all levels of her lumbar spine when compared with her 2001 MRI. Dr. Johnston noted that the employee brought a friend with her to the appointment.  He also noted that there had been no changes in the employee’s medical history although the employee reported she had increased pain in the left leg describing it as a 10 out of 10 on the pain scale.  Dr. Johnston opined that he had not seen any significant objective changes over the last six weeks.  He found her to be medically stable and assigned a 13% whole person impairment.    Because their relationship was no longer therapeutic, he advised the employee she should obtain another medical opinion from someone she could work with on a more therapeutic basis.  Dr. Johnston concluded his chart note with:

There is no question that she has suffered a work-related injury.  However, the objective findings in the past have not necessarily fit with her subjective complaints.  Once again, it think it would be important to have an independent medical evaluator review this case to make certain that [the employee] receives the appropriate care.

The employee continued with physical therapy
 and continued to see Dr. Voke for additional medical complaints.  Dr. Voke performed further diagnostics, including an EMG for carpal tunnel. The EMG study was normal and there were no findings of cervical radiculopathy, carpal tunnel syndrome or ulnar neuropathy.
  He labeled the employee at totally disabled and removed her from the work place.  Dr. Voke referred the employee to A.A. Pain Clinic and treated by Leon H. Chandler, M.D.  Dr. Chandler referred the employee to Kenneth R. Pervier, M.D.  Dr. Pervier concluded that the employee demonstrated “very slight denervation/reinervation from the old L-5, S-1 root damage and possible a degree of left peroneal nerve compression at the left proximal fibular head.
  The employee continued to treat at AA Pain Clinic for several months.

On May 20, 2002, Dr. Voke had the employee undergo another MRI.  Dr. Bridges also read this MRI.  It revealed a stable presentation, no change at the L-4-5 level with posterolateral disc extrusion, and a small increase in signal involving the central portion posterior disc.

On February 27, 2003, the employee underwent a panel EME.  The panel consisted of a neurologist, Gerald R. Reimer, M.D., orthopedic surgeon Steven Schilperoort, M.D., and psychiatrist David Glass, M.D.  The evaluation produced two EME reports: one from Drs. Reimer and Schilperoort and one from Dr. Glass.  Dr. Glass opined that no specific psychiatric treatment or psychological counseling was indicated as a result of her work injury.  He also recommended that the employee’s narcotics be tapered and eventually discontinued.    Drs. Reimer and Schilperoort opined that the employee’s prognosis was guarded because of her “sever underlying degenerative, multilevel discopathy that is longstanding and pre-existing.”  They agreed with Dr. Johnston’s April 3, 2002 date of medical stability.  They did not attribute the employee’s additional body complaints (lower left extremity, foot drop, knee, or carpel tunnel) to her work injury.  The employee did not complain of cervical pain.  Drs. Reimer and Schilperoort came to their conclusions after examination, review of prior medical records and prior testing.  

Assuming she sustained a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing, known condition, which had accurately been identified in her previous MRI study, there is no indication that this produced any pathological worsening of that condition.  Beyond her developing some symptoms as a result of a flare, as a result of bending over, there is no substantial information indicating that there was any form of aggravation.

Finally they found evidence of symptom magnification or secondary gain based upon their observations at the time of evaluation.  The EME physicians opined that no further treatment was required for the employee’s work related June 28, 2001 injury.   They concluded that the injury was a temporary aggravation of the employee’s pre-existing condition, which has since resolved.  Finally, the EME panel concluded that the employee was capable of returning to the workplace albeit with some restrictions.

Alan C. Roth, M.D., performed a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) on July 18, 2003.  Dr. Roth agreed with the date of medical stability (April 3, 2003) and that the surgery was due to an injury that predated the work injury:

On a more likely than not basis, the history of bending over to move a table or actually moving and lifting the table as is described was a substantial factor in the need for treatment and low back surgery.  Admittedly, if the patient was only bending over the table and hadn’t actually lifted it, the question of whether or not the worsening of her condition was coincidental is raised.  Nevertheless, based on the patient’s rendition that she lifted the table and even not withstanding this history, if the patient was bending over in order to prepare to bend to move the table at work with subsequent increase in the level of discomfort, the discomfort arose throughout the course of her employment within her usual job duties.  Thus, on a more likely than not basis, her work activities were a substantial factor in the subsequent need for treatment and surgery.

Dr. Roth attributed the employee’s back pain and radiating left complaints, “at least in part,” as related to the employee’s June 28, 2001 work injury. 
   He did not, however, attribute her knee condition, shoulder condition, carpal tunnel, upper extremity complaints, cervical complaints and feeling of unsteadiness and/or collapsing legs to the June 28, 2001 work injury because they predated her work injury “and are not logically related to her injury as alleged.”
   Additionally, Dr. Roth opined “on a more likely than not basis, she has not injured her knees either as a result of her injury at work, surgical treatment or within therapy to treat or relieve the effects of her industrial injury.

Dr. Roth opined that the claimant had reached medical stability by April 3, 2002.  It was also Dr. Roth’s opinion that the June 28, 2001 work related injury did combine with a pre-existing condition causing the need for medical treatment unrelated to the surgery.

When asked to provide an opinion as to further medical treatment, Dr. Roth stated minimal care would be reasonable and necessary.  Specifically, he did not support further testing.  He recommended independent stretching and back strengthening, over the counter medication, and up to two epidural steroid blocks per year for the next two years.
  Dr. Roth was also asked his opinion regarding narcotic medication, steroid injections/nerve blocks, IDET, surgery, additional physical therapy, Racz catheter treatment, and radiofrequency ablation/rhizotomy.  Dr. Roth thought three Vicodin per week would be reasonable.  He would not recommend specific nerve blocks, but did find limited steroid injections reasonable.  Regarding additional physical therapy, he felt she should use the information provided by past physical therapists to independently stretch and strengthen.  Dr. Roth did not find any of the other proposed forms of medical treatment would be reasonable and necessary.
   Dr. Roth agreed with the EME panel that the employee could return to the workforce with some restrictions (no lifting over 20 pounds).

III. Testimony

Employee Testimony.
The employee testified via deposition and at hearing.  When deposed, counsel represented the employee.  The employee was not represented by counsel at hearing. The employee testified that she was lifting a 100-pound cocktail table with the assistance of another employee when she injured her back.  After her injury she had surgery and went through physical therapy.  The physical therapy seemed to be helping but then she had a set back when her legs were suddenly dropped when they were removed from traction at physical therapy.

She argued that she is not medically stable and relies on a Disability Status form from Dr. Voke dated October 22, 2001 as support for her position.  She testified regarding the physical requirements of her work at the time of injury.  The employee disputes the accuracy of Dr. Johnston’s April 3, 2002 chart note.   She also disputes the reliability of Dr. Roth’s SIME report because she asserts Dr. Roth did not spend more than 5 minutes with her. 

The employer has accepted that the employee’s work aggravated a preexisting condition and has paid TTD.  It is not disputed that work caused the employee’s need for treatment in October 2001.  

The employee testified that prior to working for the employer she could not recall if she was treated for low back pain, she thought it was for headache.  When questioned, the employee recalled that on July 28, 1995, she was at the hospital because of back pain and leg cramps.  When questioned regarding if the back pain and leg cramps where why she went to the hospital, she testified, “it could have been.”  It was only after further questioning that the employee reluctantly testified regarding her history of a motor vehicle accident and prior back treatment.

Regarding the March 12, 2001, chiropractic visit three months prior to the work injury, the employee disputes the accuracy of that medical record indicating that the records do not reflect what she told the doctor or his assistant. 

The employee testified that after her 1995 surgery she took steps to recover and had returned to all of her prior activities, including golfing.  She testified that the reason she moved to Alaska was to partake in these and other alaskan activities, (fishing, etc.).  However, shortly after the employee went to work for the employer, she immediately started having problems with her feet and back.  The employee testified that it was the job that caused the preexisting injury.  Finally, the employee regretted not having filed a notice of injury report when she first went to the chiropractor.  

Alan C. Roth, M.D.
Dr. Roth testified via deposition.  He testified that the employee’s characterization of her pain level suggested symptom magnification, anxiety or the possibility that it was extremely sever.
  Dr. Roth also confirmed that the employee did not have a recurrent disk herniation.  He opined that the surgery performed by Dr. Voke after the June 28, 2001 event would have been no different had it been performed prior to the event.
  

Steven Schilperoort, M.D. 

Dr. Schilperoort testified telephonically.  He testified that the surgery performed by Dr. Voke would have been the same surgery as he would have performed on June 27, 2001, had the employee presented to him.  Dr. Schilperoort also testified that when he evaluated the employee he observed that she used a cane to walk.   He explained that if the employee were using the cane for pain relief, she would have used it on the opposite side.  Therefore, he questions the genuineness of the employee’s complaints.  It is his opinion that the employee’s June 2001 injury merely temporarily aggravated a pre-existing condition.  

Regarding treatment, he opined that no present treatment would provide objective improvement in her condition.  It was his opinion that some pain medication may be appropriate from time to time, but the treatment modalities available would provide no benefit to the employee.   Dr. Schilperoort testified that he found the employee medically stable in April 2001 because the employee had not improved for over 45 days, nor was there any indication that objective improvement would follow.  Regarding additional treatment, Dr. Schilperoort opined that narcotics on a regular basis may be appropriate on occasion to deal with breakthrough pain; however, the need for narcotics is attributable to the employee’s pre-existing condition.

The employee questioned Dr. Schilperoort about the May 20, 2002 MRI and the radiologist’s finding that there was a “small increase in signal involving the central posterior disc protrusion area at L3-4 which could reflect a new small radial tear.”  Dr. Schilperoort testified that the term “annular or radial tear” might be a misnomer.  He explained that if you thought of the disk as a jelly donut, the donut surrounding the jelly would be the annulus.  The annulus would be similar to stacks of multiple layers of felt.  An annular tear, Dr. Schilperoort testified, is a degenerative erosion of the disk.  He further explained that because the prior MRIs did not pick this up, he attributes it as nothing more than a degenerative disk repair. 

Finally, Dr. Schilperoort testified that it was his professional opinion, that, to a reasonable degree of medical probability, that work was not a substantial factor in the employee’s present medical condition and complaints.

Affidavit of Shawn Johnston, M.D.

Dr. Johnston affied that it was his “opinion to a reasonable degree of medical probability, that narcotic pain medication should not be prescribed without psychological indicators that this is appropriate, especially in view of Ms. Jones’ psychological overlay, which apparently remains untreated.  . . . . It remains my opinion that Ms. Jones was medically stable at the time I rated her for permanent impairment on April 3, 2002 and continues to be medically stable.”
    He also affied that throughout the course of his treatment of the employee, she voiced no complaints relative to her cervical spine, shoulder, left writs, or upper extremities.    Dr. Johnston ordered the March 27, 2002 MRI in response to the employee’s complaints of knee pain and continuing back pain. The MRI revealed no change in her condition.

Rosemary Ferguson
Rosemary Ferguson, a friend of the employee, testified at hearing on behalf of the employee.  Ms. Ferguson accompanied the employee to her last appointment with Dr. Johnston.  She testified that she was there to provide the employee with moral support and to provide assistance with any follow-up.  Ms. Ferguson testified that she believed the employee was in a lot of pain and had difficulty remembering things.  She testified that Dr. Johnston did not have a good bedside manner and seemed to be in a hurry.  She corroborates the employee’s testimony regarding testing the reflexes and that Dr. Johnston refused further treatment.  Ms. Ferguson does not recall Dr. Johnston indicating that the employee was medically stable or able to return to work. 

Ms. Ferguson also testified regarding the employee’s quality of life before and after June 28, 2001. She testified that the employee had complained of sore feet long before the June 2001 incident and that she purchased shoes for the employee.

Affidavit of Steve Sobotor
The employee submitted the affidavit of Steve Sobotor, a co-worker.  Mr. Sobotor was helping the employee lift the table at the time of injury. He affied that “Prior to the above incident, I have never heard Penny complain about various back problems.”  He affied that he does not believe the SCODDOT job description for Salesperson, Furniture
 is an accurate description of the job and would classify the job as requiring heavy lifting, not light.  Mr. Sobotor is not a rehabilitation specialist.

IV.  Argument of the Employee

The employee argues that she cannot be medically stable when Dr. Voke has not found her medically stable.  The employee argues that Dr. Johnston’s date of medical stability is unreliable because he was upset with her over her allegation of additional harm.  The employee also asserts that she started having symptoms as soon as she started work and should have filed a claim from the first onset of symptoms.  The employee argues that work was a substantial factor in her present need for benefits.  The employee also argues that because Dr. Voke has not released her to return to work, she is PTD.  The employee urges the Board give Dr. Voke’s opinion greater weight.  The employee cannot get comfortable and only sleeps a few hours per night.

The employee asserts that her quality of life has been dramatically reduced.  She asserts that she was improving after Dr. Voke’s surgery.  She suffered two setbacks.  The first was during an examination by Dr. Johnston, when he caused knee pain when he was testing her reflexes.  The second was as a result of an incident at physical therapy where her legs were dropped while being removed from traction.  The employee asserts that her other problems are caused by having to compensate for her back injury and its limitations.

V.  Argument of the Employer

The employer argues that the employee suffered a work-related exacerbation of symptoms on June 28, 2001 and that this event combined with a preexisting condition to produce the need for medical treatment.  The employer argues that the employee’s present complaints are the result of a long history of back problems.  The employee had a 15-year history of low back pain prior to her employment with the employer.   This history includes a motor vehicle accident, a 1995 lumbar surgery, and chiropractic treatments. However, the June 2001 event is not a substantial factor in the employee’s present complaints or need for treatment.  Additionally, no physician has opined that the employee is unable to return to the work force.  The objective evidence supports the finding that the date of medical stability is April 3, 2002.    The objective evidence supports this date of medical stability.  Additionally, the only reasonable and necessary medical treatment recommended by Dr. Johnston, the treating physician, the EME panel and the SIME physician is conservative treatment consisting of over the counter and prescription pain medication and possibly limited steroid injections.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I. Presumption Analysis.  

Where employment causes injury or when employment aggravates, accelerates, or combines with a pre-existing condition to cause a disability, the employee is entitled to compensation and benefits.
  The employment must be a substantial factor contributing to the disability.
 

An injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits he or she seeks are compensable.
  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment. Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
 Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.
 

There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee’s injury entitles him [her] to compensation benefits.
  

The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the tier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.
 

We do not weigh the credibility of the testimony during the first stage of the presumption analysis.
  If the employee establishes the presumption of compensability, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence. "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
     We examine the employer’s evidence in isolation to determine whether it has: (1) produced substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminated any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  

II.      TTD Benefits

The employee, who received TTD benefits through April 3, 2002, asks the Board to find that she is entitled to additional TTD benefits from April 3, 2002 forward. Applying the presumption analysis set forth above, the Board does not weigh the credibility of the testimony during the first stage of the analysis and reviews the evidence in isolation. The employee received TTD benefits up to April 3, 2002.  Applying the presumption analysis set forth above, we find the employee has introduced sufficient “minimal” evidence to establish the compensability of her claim for continuing TTD benefits through the medical records of Dr. Voke.  We find that the employee has presented medical evidence necessary to make that connection.
  Following the Court’s rationale in Meek,
 we therefore apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the TTD benefits claimed. 

Having attached the presumption of compensability, the burden then shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence. "Substantial evidence" is defined as the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. We examine the employer's evidence in isolation to determine whether it has 1) produced substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation that, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability, or 2) directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.

We find the employer has rebutted the presumption of continuing TTD benefits through the testimony of Dr. Schilperoort that it is his professional opinion, to a reasonable degree of medical probability, that work was not a substantial factor in the employee’s present medical condition and complaints.  Rather, he attributes the employee’s present medical condition and complaints to the employee’s preexisting condition(s).  Additionally, Drs. Schilperoort, Reimer, Roth, and Johnston all agree that the employee reached medical stability as of April 3, 2002.   When examined in isolation, we find this is substantial evidence, sufficient to rebut the presumption.

Therefore, the employee must prove her claim for additional TTD benefits by a preponderance of the evidence. It is not necessary that work be the sole legal cause of the disability. Rather, the Alaska Supreme Court has held that the Board should find liability "whenever employment is established as a causal factor in the disability." Under AS 23.30.185, an employee may receive TTD benefits only up to the date of medical stability. AS 23.30.395(21) defines medical stability as 

the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.... 

The Board finds that the Drs. Johnston, Reimer, Schilperoort and Roth all agree that the employee's condition was medically stable no later than April 3, 2002. Having reviewed the record and arguments in this case, we find that the employee was medically stable as of April 3, 2002.  Accordingly, we conclude that the employee is not entitled to continuing TTD benefits after April 3, 2002.  

The employee relies upon Dr. Voke’s characterization of the employee as totally disabled for work purposes.  We find that “totally disabled” for work versus “temporary total disability” under AS 23.30.185 are not similar.  We find that a person can be totally disabled from work and be medically stable.  Medical stability is term of art and requires the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days.  Here, the medical records and diagnostic testing establish that as of April 3, 2002 the employee had demonstrated no objective change in her low back for a period of 45 days.  We find the opinion of Dr. Johnston, the employee’s treating physician for her low back more persuasive than Dr. Voke who was treating the employee for complaints we determine below to be non-work related in addition to her low back.  We find Dr. Voke’s October 17, 2002 chart note stating that the employee is not medically stable  “as she continues to have problems following the surgery….” unpersuasive in light of the record as a whole.  

We find that the objective evidence in the record does not support the employee’s complaints of injury to her neck, arm, shoulder, etc.  We find the employee’s testimony and characterization less persuasive than the objective evidence.  We make this finding based upon the observations of the SIME physician, Dr. Roth and the testimony of Dr. Schilperoort.  We also rely upon the EMG and MRI results.  We find that neither the EMG nor the MRI results support the employee’s claims. Thus, the Board finds that the employee's condition reached medical stability as of April 3, 2004. The Board therefore concludes that the employee should have received TTD benefits through that date.

III.      PTD Benefits
The employee has requested as an alternative to TTD benefits, PTD benefits. To be entitled to PTD benefits, the employee must demonstrate that he has an impairment that is permanent in nature.
  The Alaska Supreme Court has held that to be a permanent impairment, the disability must be one that "will not improve during the claimant's lifetime...."
  The concept of permanent and total disability also encompasses the "inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist."
 

Based on the record before the Board, the Board finds that the employee's condition does not rise to this standard. As noted above, neither the employee's attending physician, the SIME physician nor the EME physicians have opined that the employee experienced a permanent disability as a result of the work incident.  In addition, we find that the weight of the medical evidence does not support a finding that the employee is precluded from returning to the job held at the time of injury with modification or other jobs in the workforce. As the employee's condition does not rise to the level of a permanent total disability, the Board concludes that the employee is not entitled to PTD benefits.

IV.  Medical Benefits 
AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

8 AAC 45.082(d) provides in pertinent part:  

. . . Unless the employer controverts the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer receives … an itemization of the dates of travel, destination, and transportation expenses for each date of travel. 

The statutory presumption of compensability at AS 23.30.120(a) also applies to claims for medical benefits and related transportation costs.   Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under subsection .095(a). 

The employer has accepted that the employee’s work aggravated a preexisting condition and has paid TTD.  It does not dispute that work caused the employee’s need for treatment in October 2001.  The employer argues that any present treatment or medical complaints are not work related.  As set forth above, we find the employer has rebutted the presumption of compensability.  We find the overwhelming weight of the objective evidence and medical opinions support a finding that work was not a substantial factor in the employee’s present medical condition(s).  We find, in light of the record as a whole, that the recommendations for further treatment suggested by Dr. Roth are compensable.  We find reasonable and necessary medical treatment is limited to occasional pain medication (over the counter and no more than three Vicodin per week) and limited steroid injections (no more than two per year for two years).  

V.  Interest and Penalties

AS 23.30.155(p) provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  

AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death. On this date all compensation then due shall be paid. . . .

(d) . . . If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due. . . .

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it. This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.

Having denied the employee’s request for continuing TTD or PTD benefits and having identified what is reasonable and necessary medical treatment for the employee’s compensable injury, the remaining issue before the Board is whether the employee is entitled to interest and penalties on any benefits that were not timely paid.  At hearing, the employer submitted its exhibit ER-1 demonstrating the medical expenses submitted by the employee and identifying which were paid and which remain unpaid. 

It is well settled that the employer’s obligation to pay medical benefits is not triggered until the employer receives both the bill and the medical records.
  The employer argues that under 8 AAC 45.082(d), there is no obligation to pay until it receives both the billing and the medical record.    Therefore, we find the employee has not established the date triggering the employer’s obligation to pay. 

We find the employer timely controverted benefits and the controversions were supported by substantial evidence under AS 23.30.155(b).
   As a result, we find no penalty is due under AS 23.30.155(e).   As to interest, we find the employee has not established that the employee failed to pay when the employee provided the appropriate documentation.    

ORDER
1. The employee’s claim for temporary total disability benefits from April 3, 2002 to present is denied.

2. The employee’s claim in the alternative for permanent total disability benefits is denied.

3.  The employee’s claim for medical benefits is granted.  The employee is entitled to reasonable and necessary medical treatment in the form of occasional pain medication (over the counter and no more than three Vicodin per week) and limited steroid injections (no more than two per year for two years).  

3. The employee’s claim for penalties and interest is denied.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on February 24, 2005.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of PENYLOPE M. JONES employee / applicant; v. ASHLEY HOME STORE, employer; AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE CO., insurer / defendants; Case No 200113221; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on February 24, 2005.
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 Shirley A. DeBose, Clerk
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� The employee withdrew her claim for additional permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits at the December 12, 2004 prehearing conference. 


� The employer objected to amending employee’s claim to add penalties, arguing that it was a new issue that was not properly raised or timely raised.  After consideration of the arguments presented, the Board entered an oral order finding that including this issue would not be prejudicial to the employer’s defense.


� 7/10/05 Report of Occupational Injury or Illness.


� 12/12/01 Compensation Report.


� Id.


� 8/23/02 Controversion Notice.


� Id.


� 10/7/02 Controversion Notice.


� Employer Medical Evaluation.


� 5/7/03 Controversion Notice.


� See Hearing Tape for Full Discussion.


� The employer cites to Johnson v. Custom Interiors by Day, AWCB Decision No. 05-0008 (January 14, 2005) in support of its argument.


� 7/31/95 Radiology Report.


� Id.


� 9/26/95 – 12/5/95 Sarnowski Chart Notes.


� 4/6/01 Radiology Report.


� 7/2/01 Reinbold Chart Note.


� 7/10/01 Voke Chart Note.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� 7/10/01 Voke Disability Status.


� 8/21/01 Voke Chart Note.


� 9/17/01 Voke Chart Note.


� 10/1/01 Voke Chart Note and 10/22/01 Voke Disability Status.


� 11/8/01 Dickerman Report.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� 11/12/01 Voke Chart Note


� 12/19/01 Jim Bliven, P.A.-C Chart Note.


� 1/7/02 Voke Chart Note (“She will not need to return to this office in the future.”)


� 1/15/02 Johnston Report.


� 1/15/02 Work Status Report.


� 2/4/02 Progress Report.


� 2/6/02 Progress Note.


� Id.


� 2/25/02 Progress Report and 2/26/02 Employee Letter to Employer.


� Id.


� Id.


� See e.g., Employee’s 4/3/02 Hand Written Note.


� 2/20/02 Wanock Chart Notes.


� Id.


� 4/3/02 Johnston Chart Note at 2.


� 2/28/02 – 4/1/02 Progress Reports.


� 8/7/02 Hadley Chart Note to Voke.


� 2/6/03 Pervier Chart Note.


� 3/11/03, 4/08/03, 5/6/03.


� 2/27/03 Reimer and Schilperoort EME Report at 9.


� 7/18/03 SIME Report at 12.


� Id. at 12.


� Id. at 12.


� Id.


� Id. at 13. 


� Id. at 13, 14.


� Roth Dep. at 8.


� Id.at 15.


� 2/11/03 Johnston Affidavit.


� United States Department of Labor’s Selected Characteristics of Occupation’s Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles (SCODDOT).


� Thornton v. AWCB, 411 P.2d, 209, 210 (Alaska 1966).


� United Asphalt Paving v. Smith, 660 P.2d 445, 447 (Alaska 1983).


� AS 23.30.120(a); Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279.


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).


� Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316.


� Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d at 473-74.


� Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).


� Id. (quoting Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316).


� Veco, 693 P.2d at 869.


� Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Miller, 577 P.2d 1044.


� Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).


� Koons, 816 P.2d 1381.


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriot, 1 P.3d 90.


� Miller, 577 P.2d 1044.


� Grainger, supra at 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


� Meek, 914 P.2d at 1276.


� AS 23.30.180.


� Alaska Int'l Constructors v. Kinter, 755 P.2d 1103, 1105 (Alaska 1988).


� J.B. Warrack Co. v. Roan, 418 P.2d 986, 988 (Alaska 1966).


� Karr v. Manatuska Maid, Inc.,  AWCB Decision 02-0017 (January 30, 2002).


� Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992).
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